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DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 11-1411 PO



)

MICHAEL LYNN TOMLINSON, SR.,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION 


Michael Lynn Tomlinson, Sr., is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offense of distributing controlled substances, and used his position as police chief to facilitate and conceal the distribution and receipt of those substances.  
Procedure


The Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint on July 8, 2011, seeking this Commission’s determination that Tomlinson’s peace officer license is subject to discipline.  Though Tomlinson received a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by certified mail on July 18, 2011, he did not file an answer to the complaint.  

The Director filed a motion for summary decision (“the motion”) on September 2, 2011.  We allowed Tomlinson until September 21, 2011, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.   
Pursuant to 1 CSR 15-3.446(6)(A), we may decide a motion for summary decision if a party establishes facts that entitle that party to a favorable decision and no party genuinely disputes such facts.  Those facts may be established by stipulation, pleading of the adverse party, or other evidence admissible under the law.
  The Director’s evidence consists of certified copies of court records from the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri, which include a plea agreement, signed by Tomlinson, in which he admitted most of the facts set out below.  The following facts, based on that evidence, are undisputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Tomlinson is licensed as a peace officer, and was licensed at all relevant times.  He was employed as the chief of police of the Steele Police Department.
2. On March 13, 2009, Tomlinson entered a residence in Steele, Missouri to negotiate a deal to distribute controlled substances.  Tomlinson was unaware the individual inside the residence was a confidential informant (“CI”).  
3. The CI informed Tomlinson that his (or her) source
 for illicit controlled substances was afraid to distribute any more pills due to a recent “drug bust” in Dunklin County, which was one of the areas where the source had previously sold illicit controlled substances.
4. Tomlinson indicated the CI’s source was safe, otherwise he would have already been picked up on a warrant.  Tomlinson further added that the CI’s source simply needed to stop selling in Dunklin County.  Finally, Tomlinson told the CI the source should trust him and the CI because, if caught, all three would be held responsible.  Tomlinson then indicated he was waiting for his prescription to be filled and would return with the pills.
5. Approximately one hour later, Tomlinson returned and gave the CI a bag containing 22 Xanax pills and 12 hydrocodone pills.  Tomlinson gave the CI the pills as payment for pills he had previously received from the CI.
6. Both hydrocodone and Xanax
 are controlled substances.

7. Neither Tomlinson nor the CI was licensed to distribute controlled substances.
8. Tomlinson used his position as police chief of Steele to assist him in both facilitating and concealing the illicit possession and receipt of controlled substances.
9. On September 21, 2009, Tomlinson pled guilty in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri to two counts of distribution of a controlled substance.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Director has the burden of proving Tomlinson has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Director argues there is cause for discipline under § 590.080:

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:
*   *   *
(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;

(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

I.  Criminal Offense

Tomlinson pled guilty to two counts of distribution of controlled substances in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), which provides:
(a) Unlawful acts

Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally--

(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance[.]
Because Tomlinson pled guilty to this offense, he is estopped from denying he committed the offense,
 and he made no attempt to do so.  He committed a criminal offense.  There is cause to discipline his license under § 590.080.1(2).  
II.  Act Involving Moral Turpitude

The Director asserts that Tomlinson may be disciplined under § 590.080.1(3) for committing an act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude.  
As Tomlinson admitted in his plea agreement, he used his position as the police chief to assist him in both facilitating and concealing the illicit distribution and receipt of controlled substances.  He acted under color of law.

Moral turpitude is:
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 

between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

We agree Tomlinson’s conduct involved moral turpitude.
  His actions were corrupt, dishonest, and involved an abuse of power.  He is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(3).  
Summary


Tomlinson is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2) and (3).  

SO ORDERED on October 4, 2011.


________________________________



SREENIVASA RAO DANDAMUDI


Commissioner

�1 CSR 15-3.446(6)(B).


�From the context of the plea agreement, we infer that the “source” was actually the ultimate distributor of illicit controlled substances to members of the public after obtaining these controlled substances from Tomlinson via the CI.


�Xanax is the trade name for alprazolam. DORLAND’S ILLUSTRATED MEDICAL DICTIONARY 2068 (30th ed. 2003).  


�Hydrocodone can be either a Schedule II or III controlled substance.  21 C.F.R. §§ 1308.12 and 13.08.13.  Alprazolam is a Schedule IV controlled substance.  21 C.F.R. § 1308.14.


�Section 590.080.2.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2010 unless otherwise noted.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�Carr. v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004).


	�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


	�In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education, 213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007), a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes.  The egregious circumstances of Tomlinson’s crime make it unnecessary to determine which category it falls into, as his actions clearly involved moral turpitude.
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